
darmy.bailey.tape1-2
Page 32 of 36
D’Army Bailey, Rae Ann Kremer, Virginia Dunaway

[00:00:00]
Rae Ann Kremer:
___ sixth, 1979, and we are interviewing tonight Mr. D’Army Bailey, at his home on Monticello.  This is a part of the Neighborhood and Public Policy Project funded by the Tennessee Committee for the Humanities, which is an affiliate of the National Endowment to the Humanities.

All right, Mr. – D’Army, can you tell me how long you've lived in the neighborhood?

D’Army Bailey:
Yes, I moved here in this house on – at the beginning of July, 1974.  So I’ve been here almost five years.  

Rae Ann Kremer:
Where did you live previously?

D’Army Bailey:
Well, before that I lived in California.  I lived in Berkley, California, on the west coast generally, for five years.  And then I was on the east coast for about five years going to school.  And then I worked for a year in Manhattan.  
[00:01:00]
Prior to that, I was here in Memphis, where I grew up as a youngster.  I lived in south Memphis, over off of Mississippi and Walker in Port Au Place.  

Rae Ann Kremer:
So, when you bought this home, this was your first really – home after you married and had – or had – or your first home?

D’Army Bailey:
Well, actually, I was single at the time.

Rae Ann Kremer:
You were single, okay.  [Laughs]  But it was the first home you bought when you were grown?

D’Army Bailey:
That’s correct, first ___ ___ ____.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Tell me where you went to school.  You were on the east coast, and ____?

D’Army Bailey:
Well, I went to grade school here in Memphis, kindergarten actually, Rosebud Kindergarten, from – up until about fourth grade, and then I went to the Rose School, which is also in south Memphis, at Crump and Wellington, and then to Booker Washington, where I graduated in 1959.  And then I went to Southern University in Baton Rouge, Louisiana 
[00:02:00]
for two and a half years.  I was involved in some sitting protests at that time, and was discharged from the school as a consequence.


So I then went to Clark University in Worchester, Massachusetts, where I finished in 1964.  And then I went to Boston University for a year, law school, and I transferred from there to Yale University, where I studied for two years.  And in the next two years I got my law degree in 1967.  

Rae Ann Kremer:
Great.  And then you practiced law in Memphis with your brother?  Is that correct?

D’Army Bailey:
Yes.  Three of us who share offices, myself, my brother Walter, and Otis Hicks.  

Rae Ann Kremer:
And then you also write for the Commercial ___?

D’Army Bailey:
Yes, I have a once-a-week column in the Commercial ____, on Mondays.

[00:03:00]
Virginia Dunaway:
Good.  How long have you been doing that?

D’Army Bailey:
For – let’s see, I started doing it – I got – in 1975, in February.  So I’ve been doing it for four years.  

Rae Ann Kremer:
All right, well, you've had an interesting career. Can you comment a little bit on that and what you’re feeling these days with your law career?

D’Army Bailey:
Well [Laughs], I’m very pleased with my practice of law.  I think that it’s a new dimension to my own life, to be engaged in private practice.  Even though I had my law license, I first got my law license in California in ’69, and I worked with legal services in San Francisco.  In fact, that is actually what I started doing when I moved out there, for about two years, I think.  But I hadn’t really been in private practice 
[00:04:00]
until I came back here and started in October of ’74, after I was admitted to ____ ____.  


But it’s a challenge.  Of course, there’s never enough business.  At least, there’s never enough business that could pay ____ _____.  But we’ve got a very good practice.  I find that the judges downtown are generally very hospitable and courteous.  So I’m pleased.  
Rae Ann Kremer:
Now, are most of your clients black, or are they – do you have other ___ ____?

D’Army Bailey:
Yes.  The vast majority are black.  I get – I have had some white clients, but very few.  I’d say it was probably less than two or three percent of my business, 

[00:05:00]
maybe about that, I suppose.  And of course, ours is a community that is so racially divided, fundamentally, that whites don’t perceive their business affairs as being such as to lodge them in the hands of black attorneys, or other kinds of black professionals.  We have a very divided kind of community landscape.  If you're gonna make a living as a black professional, then you have to look to making that living in the black community.  


Whites, by contrast, have the best of both worlds, because they can make their living in the white community, and then they can make a good living off blacks, too, especially so since some blacks would prefer to use a white professional than a black professional; although that is becoming probably less and less so, but it still does exist to an unfortunate extent.
[Cut 00:05:55:21]

Rae Ann Kremer:
Did you ever consider trying to go with a white firm?

[00:06:00]

Or was it always – did that even enter your mind when you practice law?

D’Army Bailey:
Well, now when I was looking to come back to Memphis in ’74, my brother was with an integrate firm, Ratno, Sugar, Lufus, and Willis, which was the first racially integrated law firm in the city that had been established back in the late ‘60s, with some support from the NAACP legal defense fund out of New York.  And they had offered me a position when I was coming back here from California, although at a rather nominal income.  [Laughs] 


And so – and my brother really sort of wanted to leave their firm, because he wanted to kind of strike out on his own, and he was – and he had a good relationship with the lawyers, but he just would prefer it – would have preferred to have started his own thing.  So, instead of my going into the firm 
[00:07:00]

he left the firm, and then we opened up our office together.  And then, when Judge Hicks resigned from the bench and had run for mayor, and had lost, then he came into join me.  Well, he had been in the same firm with Walter before he became a judge.  So they had known each other ___ ____.  

Rae Ann Kremer:
Are you seeing an improvement for a black professional in Memphis?

D’Army Bailey:
Well, I guess all things are relative.  Certainly the conditions black professionals experienced, say, 20 years ago practicing law ___ ____ ____ knew a judge by their first name, at least so I’m told, and weren’t given respect.  You don’t have that now, although there are some judges, I must say, who still tend to confuse one black lawyer with another.  [Laughs]
Rae Ann Kremer:
How many black lawyers are there in the city?

D’Army Bailey:
It’s been a growing number, recently.  I think probably today there may well be 

[00:08:00]

as many as 100.  It’s been a reasonably good increase in the last six or seven years.  

Rae Ann Kremer:
Well, I’m sure that you were right, of course, in the heart of most racial change, and you mentioned a sit-in.  Can you comment and tell me about that, what that experience was?

D’Army Bailey:
Well, when I got to Southern, and Southern University is in Baton Rouge, and it was, and I suppose still is, the largest all black university in the country.  It’s a state institution, and – but it’s run by all black administrators, and it’s subject to a state board of regents that covers a number of Louisiana’s colleges, but does not cover LSU.  

[00:09:00]

LSU has its own board.  [Laughs]
Rae Ann Kremer:
Like you do.  [Laughs]
D’Army Bailey:
But I went to Southern in ’59, and it was then – Louisiana, just like the rest of the south, was then quite segregated.  And when I was there, my first year, the sit-ins had begun to occur in various parts of the south, North Carolina and ___ ____.  And so, during my first year, about eight of the student leaders ____ began to organize a protest.  The number was actually really about 20, and they staged some sit-in demonstrations in downtown Baton Rouge.  And the consequence was that they were arrested, and the university sought to expel them from school.

[00:10:00]

The black administrators were under the control of the white board of regents, and also the governor and the legislature.  So we protested on the campus, and we ____ our campus in a series of protests for a matter of days, possibly weeks.  And then it subsided and things were quiet on the campus for the next year or so. And then, about a year and a half later, in – let’s see – 1961, it was in the winter of ’61, some students began agitating again about racial discrimination, because they had – even though these students had protested in ’59, I think it was early ’60, the segregation continued in the downtown lunch counters, bus stations, ___ ___ ___ ___ ____.    And so 
[00:11:00]

in ’61, the winter of ’61, some of the students in the lower classes, freshmen and sophomore leaders, actually began to talk about more protests, and they began to get other students involved.  And then they went downtown and sat in at some of the lunch counters, and they were arrested.  And then we had a massive protest on the campus, with about 4,000-5,000 students from the campus, which is actually about 10 miles outside of Baton Rouge, in Scottingvale.  


And we marched downtown to the – we were gonna march to the jailhouse to protest the arrest of these students.  And then, when we got down there, we were tear gassed, and the police chased us all over downtown Baton Rouge with dogs and things.  And so it just 

[00:12:00]

a mammoth chaos.  And we finally made our way back to the area of our campus and had some rallying and regrouping, and some of our leaders had been arrested. And I and some others emerged as leaders, I guess, of sorts, among the students, and organized the protest of the arrests, as well as of the proposed expulsion of the student leaders, which lead to our expulsion.  [Laughs]  
[Cut 00:12:30:03]

Rae Ann Kremer:
How old were you then?

D’Army Bailey:
Let’s see, I would’ve been – this was ’61, so I would’ve been 20.  And so the university responded by throwing out myself and about seven other leaders and closing the school, and then throwing out other students.  They ended up expelling, conservatively, it would’ve been about 200 students.

[00:13:00]

And so then I got a scholarship from Clark, which was up on Worchester, Massachusetts.  The students raised a scholarship ____ to go to some southern student who’d been expelled, because it was happening across the south, but the student leaders on various state college campuses were being expelled in reaction to this.  And so they were pointed in my direction by someone that I had known, who had been student ____ president of Jackson State, and he had been expelled.  So they gave me the scholarship ___ ____.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Were you a member of the NAACP, any organization, or just – or just a mass student - ?

D’Army Bailey:
You mean down there?

Rae Ann Kremer:
Uh huh.

D’Army Bailey:
Yes, we had quite a bit of backing from Core.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Core?  Uh huh.

D’Army Bailey:
That was – Core was in – [Baby sneezes in the background]
Rae Ann Kremer:
God bless you.  [Laughs]
[00:14:00]
Virginia Dunaway:
Bless you.  

D’Army Bailey:
Core was then very active.  Jim Farmer, who was then the national director of Core, and the way the movement was going during that time, some organizations would operate in one state, and others in another.  Louisiana happened to be a state the Core organization was in.  By contrast, ___ ___ was in Mississippi, SCLC was in Alabama.  Some of it even in the same states.  


But in Louisiana, it was actually Core that kind of focused on the state and – during those early periods, and organized demonstrations and protests.  So we received – Core sent in field secretaries, who were fulltime staff organizers of theirs.  In fact, one of the leading supreme court cases that came out of the sit-in era was based on the day we marched downtown.
[00:15:00]

When we were tear gassed.  And our leader, who was a Core field secretary, was arrested and charged with criminal anarchy, and convicted.  And of course, the case went up to the supreme court on appeal, and then they established a – what is still a leading constitutional case on the question of rights of protestors and things.  ___ that’s Cox vs. Louisiana.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Cox vs. Louisiana.  

D’Army Bailey:
But it – I don’t know where I started ___ ___ answer.  

Rae Ann Kremer:
Did you have any sense of being a part of history, or was this just anger?

D’Army Bailey:
Well, I guess you had to have a sense of being a part of history, because you knew that there was the national media there, and 

[00:16:00]

you saw all of these police.  And whenever you see dozens of armed police, you know you're part of history.  [Laughs]  

Rae Ann Kremer:
That’s the way you tell, right?  [Laughs] 

D’Army Bailey:
When they start tear gassing you and chasing you down the street with dogs, then you know that – well, we – you know, we knew we were a part of a national movement.  ____ was more southern, but it was national, because we knew that people across the country were watching it.  And we were swept up.  I mean, I don’t think that we said, “Well, let’s go out and be a part of a national movement.”

Rae Ann Kremer:
Yeah.

D’Army Bailey:
But we just were swept into something that was moving around.  Core financed us for – to a good extent.  We didn’t have a lot of money.  I mean, some of those who were thrown out of school at Southern took up quarters in the downtown Baton Rouge 

[00:17:00]

black-owned motel, where they stayed for about a month; staying several persons to a room, and actually buying and cooking our food in a motel.  But the hotel was not really very active.  You know, it was kind of going down, kind of ___ business ___ ____.  It wasn’t expensive.  But we were thrown off campus, and we couldn’t even come back onto the campus, you see.  

Rae Ann Kremer:
Did the president stay on at that - ?

D’Army Bailey:
Yes, he did.  He had made – in fact, he told us at a rally, when he – before he was expelled, he said he resigned, and he wasn’t sure ___ ____ _____, so that was ___ ____.  I just think he probably wasn’t a very strong man at heart.  His father was president of the college before him, and I think that they were the only two presidents that that college ever had.
[Cut 00:17:55:24]
Rae Ann Kremer:
Really?  Hard to – well, so you went to Clark on a scholarship.

[00:18:00]

And then you had the other experience, which you told us about.  And did you continue with Core, and that ___ ___?

D’Army Bailey:
Well, when I got into Clark, I got to working with another group up in the north, called the Northern Student Movement, NSM we used to call it.  And it was kind of the northern support arm for ____, which was operating in the south.  And Snick was – I mean, NSM was a nonprofit charitable group that was based at Yale.  And it was all – it was headed by a person who was a graduate student who – a young white fellow who was 13, who had taken time out of school to run ___ ____ ____ countrymen, who’s wife is the Reverend Leon Sullivan’s niece ___ ____.

[00:19:00]

Anyway, they – the organization had gotten support from liberal whites in the north, and ___ ____.  And they set up headquarters at Yale.  The university had – this was kind of the timing.  The northerners were trying to show their sympathies.  So the university had provided them with a nice, comfortable office arrangement on the campus.  And it was organizing – it would raise funds and send it south to Snick.  It would – had conferences at Yale, and bring in some of the – and bringing some of the people in from the south.  And there would be discussions about strategies, something like that.  Well, it branched off and also was doing tutorial work to the students in the ____ areas 

[00:20:00]

of the north, and had chapters on various campuses.  So I helped to organize a chapter veterans association in Worchester.  So I worked through that for the next couple of years and that.  

Rae Ann Kremer:
How was your experience at Yale?  Did you meet – what was it like?  Did you like it?

D’Army Bailey:
I enjoyed it.  I enjoyed being there.  I enjoyed being in New Haven, because it was close to New York.  You could get on the railroad train there and get into Manhattan in two hours.  But there were a lot of other nice things about being there.  The school was certainly nice and had a lot of luxuries around ____.  Whenever I needed any money, I didn’t have much trouble making a loan.  The dean of admissions there 

[00:21:00]

was from ____, Tennessee.  [Laughs]
Rae Ann Kremer:
Is that a fact?  [Laughs]  Well, your personal experience is so interesting, it’s hard not to [Laughs] – did you meet with discrimination, or did you have good friends and fellowship, or…?

D’Army Bailey:
Well, I don’t think I met with any more than one might experience in daily life at the law school itself.  I think that, since Yale does sort of pride itself on being a national law school, then there are students there from all regions of the country.  As a consequence, when I was there, there were southerners there who were more conservative, some people from parts of the west, or even from the east coast.  And so you would find some of the same kinds of attitudes ____ the student body, which you might find in the general population; some were racists, and some were not.

[00:22:00]



The professors were all generally sophisticated enough that you never had any problem from them.  

Rae Ann Kremer:
Okay.  Well, I’d like to talk about moving here and ____ evergreen, and tell me about your decision to come here and how you decided ____ the – to move on the street.  

D’Army Bailey:
Well, it was really a lot of – I can’t say accidental, because I was house hunting, so.  [Laughs]  But my brother lived in this neighborhood, but that’s really kind of – just – it was an accident, but he’s just a block and a half over on ____.  

Rae Ann Kremer:
Oh.

D’Army Bailey:
I was – when I made the decision to leave California and come back to Memphis, which in the early ____ I had decided I was gonna come back here, I had to go south on something, in April of ’74, and I decided to come – to stop in Memphis and look for a house.
[00:23:00]




I didn’t have a lot of money to buy a house.  I had a research project that was giving me up to $5,000.00 to do the project, and I was basically working within those confines.

Rae Ann Kremer:
What was the project?

D’Army Bailey:
It was a study of black lawyers in Tennessee that I did for the National ____ ____, through a grant from ___ ___ ____ ____.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Good.  Did you publish something?

D’Army Bailey:
Only to the ____.  In fact, it’s probably somewhere gathering dust. [Laughs]
Rae Ann Kremer:
[Laughs]  Okay, so you had this, then you came back, and you started looking for a house, and found…?

D’Army Bailey:
And I looked for a week.  I was staying at my parents’ home.  They lived over in south Memphis.  [Baby crying in the background – interviewee conversation with baby not transcribed]
[00:24:00][Cut 00:24:01:00]
[Audio Break]

Rae Ann Kremer:
All right, you stayed at your parents’ then?

D’Army Bailey:
Yes, for the week that I was house hunting.  [Baby begins fussing again]
Virginia Dunaway:
Maybe a new lap?  [Laughs]  You wanna come over here?

D’Army Bailey:
Let’s see if that’ll work.

Virginia Dunaway:
Oh, I think so.  

D’Army Bailey:
I warned you, he’s heavy.  [Laughs]  So I stayed there, and I spent a week just going around, driving all over the city looking for a house.  And I was looking for a house that would cost me $20,000.00 to $25,000.00, if I could find it.  And I’d called a couple of real estate agents.  I looked all over the city.  I was – I did a lot of looking out in the White Haven area, where whites were moving out of some of the homes there.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Yeah.

D’Army Bailey:
They were really very cheap homes, in a way.  I mean, they weren’t well constructed homes, but they were asking $30,000.00 to $35,000.00 for them, small rooms, just nothing and built in probably the ‘50s.  

[00:25:00]
So – and, well, my grandfather used to build houses.  He was a carpenter.  And my brother and I used to work with him when we were kids growing up.  We used to help him build houses, and we knew how to build a house, and how a house was constructed from the foundation up.  And we knew what good construction was.  

Rae Ann Kremer:
[Inaudible comment]
D’Army Bailey:
And it was just not – I mean, I was not gonna pay that for some rickety new house that some whites were deserting, because blacks were moving into the neighborhood, at basically an inflated price.  And yet, it was either that, mostly, or around some of the inner – close-in city areas there were some older houses, but some of those needed work and that kind of thing, and I didn’t wanna do that.  And then I saw maybe a few, two or three, that were nice, well constructed, but they would be asking

[00:26:00]

even then, I thought, too much money.  But that was ___ ___ ____ _____.  So I said, after a week, “I’m just gonna get – I’m just gonna rent an apartment.  And I’ll move on back to Memphis, and then I’ll – at my leisure, I’ll look for a place.”  And I was gonna go back to California, I think, that Monday, and I decided to give up that Saturday.  Well, ___ ____ was a real estate agent, who lived also in ___ ____ ___ ____, and I had – he had been one of the persons I’d contacted, but I had not heard from him.  But he called me that Saturday and said – well, it must’ve been that Sunday morning, and said, “I see a few houses in the Sunday paper that we can go look at, if you're interested.”  So I said, “Well, all right.”  So then we – he – we met up and he took me around to the different sites that he had picked out of the newspaper.  We went to two or three houses in this area.

[00:27:00]

This was about the third one that we got to.  And when we drove up there was a black man who was leaving the house, going to get his wife.  He had looked at it, and he had been impressed.  And there were two younger whites coming up to look at it, both male.  So Hop and I came in, and we looked at it.  And it was owned by – it was being shown by an agent, but it was owned by a young Jewish couple, a doctor, ____ Rosenberg, if I’m not mistaken, or something like that.  But he was a pathologist, and he had only had the house for seven months.  And he was getting – he was going – he was – they were moving to Birmingham for him to take a position in the hospital there at a rather comfortable salary.  [Laughs]  So they were just out to sell the house

[00:28:00]

and move on.   And so – whereas at the two previous houses we’d seen, we’d gone in and we’d bargained with the owners as to whether or not they’d go down on the price.  We’d come in here and the owners were asking $35,500.00, which was $10,000.00, or $5,000.00 at least, more than I wanted to pay for a house.  So we walked in, we walked through the house, and we walked out through the back of the house, and Hop says, “Well, D’Army,” he says, “They’re gonna get $35,000.00 for this house.”  So I said, “Well, Hop, I guess you're right.”  So we went back over to his house, and we sat and we talked about it.  And he advised that, well, maybe it’s wise to buy a little bit more than what you really wanna pay.  And I discussed it with my brother, who stopped by.  And so then we called the agent, and she said, “Well, the other people”

[00:29:00]

“a black couple, had wanted to buy the house also.”  And I believe some agent from the real estate company ___ ___ ____ ___ ____ on it.  But in any event, they said the house – since I saw them first, I’ll submit both of your proposals to the owner, and let them choose.  So the owner chose to sell it to me, ___ ___ ____.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Well, was there any resistance on the street, or was this a well integrated street?

D’Army Bailey:
At the time that I moved here, there was one other black family here on this block, and they – in the middle of this block, on this side.  I don’t know their names.  [Laughs]  We went to – I’ve not visited with them.  We did have a Christmas party, and went down and stuck an invitation in their mailbox, and I think they came, or ___ ___ ___, and I think they seemed quite nice, but I don’t know them.  But that was the only family, black family, on this block at the time.  

[00:30:00]

Now, since then, there’s been one other that has moved across the street, one house down, who was a man who has five children, and his wife is now pregnant.  And they seem very religious.  They seem to go to church a lot.  I mean, I don’t know, a lot, but they seem – he may be a part-time minister.  He works with the phone company.  Now, across on the claim there, in the big house, there is a black family that owns it.  Well, there’s a for sale sign now.  He’s had it periodically for sale, off and on.
[Cut 00:30:41:24]  

Rae Ann Kremer:
But did you have any resistance to you at all, or was it just - ?

D’Army Bailey:
No, I didn’t have any resistance.

Rae Ann Kremer:
____ no resistance.  A neighborhood of warmth and – I mean, no problems?

D’Army Bailey:
No, no problems.  A lot of the people are older people.  They’re more settled people, some of them.  

[00:31:00]

And then there are some younger people, but it’s a quiet area.  And you know, the people walk their dogs a lot.  And they speak, and they’re friendly, and nobody really disturbs anybody else.  [Laughs]
Rae Ann Kremer:
Well, it seems – you know, this neighborhood seems to be a model in the fact that, you know, whites haven’t fled and races are coming together and staying stable, and it seems to be able to be a model to other communities around.

D’Army Bailey:
I don’t know how long that’s gonna last, now.  

[Audio Break]

Rae Ann Kremer:
We were talking about how long the neighborhood might stay bi-racial.  And what are your feelings about that?

D’Army Bailey:
I’m a bit uneasy.  I think that there is – I don't know.  I mean, there’s not much evidence yet to tell.  Since I’ve been here, there have been two houses 

[00:32:00]

in the immediate vicinity that have been up for sale, that have been purchased by whites.  One of which was purchased within probably the last eight months, and is now up for sale, curiously enough.  That’s – I mean, it might be something like the people who I bought from, and maybe the people have to – I don’t know them.  Maybe they have to move out of town.  I don’t know that it has any racial connection.  I’m just mentioning that it’s now for sale.  One other house that was up for sale has been purchased by a black family.  Now, you're gonna have a certain measure of change, inevitably, in transition, and you're gonna have blacks buying, or whites buying.  So I think that there are some positive factors that would tend to help us stabilize a bit.  [Baby begins fussing again] Maybe getting a little…

[00:33:00]

[Audio Break]

D’Army Bailey:
Now, I understand that – we call him “The Colonel.”  He’s a very dapper man who dresses very neatly, a Jewish man that has the big house across the street, and who goes down to Florida. 

Rae Ann Kremer:
And when you say “across the street,” where do you mean across the street?

D’Army Bailey:
On the claims, across the street.

Rae Ann Kremer:
He lives on the claim?

D’Army Bailey:
Well, yes, that’s right, it would be on the claim, but it really sort of is in the center of that triangle out there.  But I don't know his name.  I think it’s Losscob, Isaac Losscob, or something like that.  But Adrian and I jokingly call him the Colonel, because he’s always so dressed up and sharp.  And he wears a carnation in his lapel, and he walks back and forth to the synagogue up there, you know.  

Rae Ann Kremer:
Good.

D’Army Bailey:
But now, I heard that his house was up for sale, although 

[00:34:00]

there’s no sign of it, publicly.  So I don't know whether it is or not, but what I’m saying, I guess, is that this neighborhood could possibly become more black.  There are some other factors, though, that may tend toward stabilization; the convenience, the proximity to downtown.  I can get to my office in 10 minutes, or no more than 15. So it’s very convenient if you work downtown.  A lot of people don’t ___ ___ ____ [Loud engine noise obscures comment] downtown, ___ ____ more out ____, so I guess it might be a little different for them.  But, of course, there’s the campus up there, Southwestern, and some of its people find it convenient, and they live in the vicinity.  And you have younger people that – I mean, there are some people that live in this area that are committed to the concept of a stabilized and integrated neighborhood.

[00:35:00]

Some younger people, like Rick Thomas, who lives next door, and is active in Mecca.  Phil Hono, who lives in the bin back there, who is a lawyer in the firm that my brother was in, we went to a Christmas party that one of the older white families down here in the cove has.  Apparently, she has it every year for all the neighbors.  It was very nicely ____.
Rae Ann Kremer:
So you do have some social contacts in the neighborhood?

D’Army Bailey:
That was about our first – one of our first social gatherings, but we did go there, because we see them all the time, because we speak, and what have you.  But that was the first kind of social event that we’ve been to this past Christmas.  And I met the parents of the man who designed this house, the architect who designed this house.  They live just a block over here, and their son, apparently, was one of the first ones who did some of the early design around this area.

[00:36:00]

This house, I’m told, was build in ’37.  

Rae Ann Kremer:
Mr. Poke Agee.

D’Army Bailey:
Pardon?

Rae Ann Kremer:
Mr. Agee, Poke Agee.

D’Army Bailey:
I don’t know the name.  It may be.  It sounds familiar.  

Rae Ann Kremer:
Well, so you were saying that there are good signs, but there are also things that make you feel that it’s not completely 100-percent stable, it could tip?

D’Army Bailey:
Yes, I think that that has to be seen as a possibility, a very definite possibility, given the trend of the city, given the dimension in which everything tends to resegregate.  Although, I – there’s certainly less evidence of it in this area than probably in most of the other areas.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Any other, okay.  Let’s talk for a minute about what you liked best about the neighborhood.  Maybe you've already touched on that, but can you go over it just a little bit?  Convenience?  

[00:37:00]

Nice house?
[Cut 00:37:03:07]
D’Army Bailey:
Greenery, it’s got a lot of trees around, squirrels, you hear the birds.  Our utility poles are behind the houses, rather than out on the street, so.  The neighbors keep their lawns and yards very nice.  It’s not – they’re not loud.  They’re – they keep their children under toe.  And of course, we’ve had some burglaries in the area, some crime.  Not indigenous to the neighborhood.  I don’t think it would come from our people, from our residents.  But there are, just down the street from us, a lower income area that’s got some rental housing down there, and there are some people down there who steal.  I say that, because I represented one of them.  [Laughs]
[00:38:00]

And there’s been some burglaries, burglaries that have been occurring throughout the ____ areas.  

Rae Ann Kremer:
Has the neighborhood considered a neighborhood watch, or anything?  Grouping together to try to offset some of that?

D’Army Bailey:
I don't know.  I don't know that – frankly, I just don’t know that – I don't know how many of my neighbors are in the organization, or are organized.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Are you in ___?  Are you involved in ____?

D’Army Bailey:
Not really.  I mean, it’s a good organization.  It deserves support, but I’m not involved in it, though.  I haven’t been.  I get their newsletter and read it, and follow it with interest ___ ____ ____.  It’s helpful to the community.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Okay, well, I was gonna ask you sort of next – and you touched on it a little bit – what things do you dislike about the neighborhood?  What do you think threatens the neighborhood?

[00:39:00]

And you were saying some nearby low-housing, property, and crime, and what else do you think threatens it?  Is there any public policy you feel threatens - ?

D’Army Bailey:
Well, now, I’ll tell you something, now.  I spoke to Rick Thomas when he was more active, I guess, back in – he may still be, but I – he was close to – it wasn’t long after he left ___ ____ that I talked to him about whether or not they had considered proposing opening the end of McClain down here at Chelsea, with this route, access route they built going on the other side of Chelsea where McClain used to stop.  And I guess it goes further on out north into Fraser or wherever, I don't know.  
[00:40:00]

But in any event, I – that bothered me.  Although, Rick called somebody, the organization ___ ___ ____ it’s not gonna appreciably increase the traffic, but I don’t see how it couldn’t, if it’s opening a major access route to the northern parts of the city.  And I think McClain has enough traffic on it now.  And so I am concerned about the possible effects of that __ ____ ____ ____.

Rae Ann Kremer:
And what – when would that be expected to take place?

D’Army Bailey:
Well, they’ve already completed the construction.  They haven’t opened it yet.  They’ve got the road blocked, but it’s already built.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Seems like it’d be a major change in the ___ _____.  

D’Army Bailey:
Now I lived in Berkley for a while, and when I was there you wouldn’t have that kind of construction going on without a lot of agitation.  I mean, people were just against cars anyway.  [Laughs]  

[00:41:00]
At least some people were.  They’d have a lot of barriers and things like that around the streets.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Well, anything else that occurs to you that would affect the stability of the neighborhood?

D’Army Bailey:
Well, our services seem to be pretty good.  I mean, I don’t have any complaint about the level of city services we get.  No, I can’t really – I don’t think – I think it’s a good neighborhood to live in.  I guess, if I had a personal dissatisfaction, I would probably want maybe a place where there was more land, but you can’t get that around these areas, anyway.  You know, you've got some confinement there.  But – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
Are you involved in the voluntary courts, or any of the action

[00:42:00]

in the – the legal action that the mayor is gonna take?

D’Army Bailey:
No.  I have ___ ___ ____.  I think they need to.  I think it’s ___ ____, even though I know A.W. Lewis well.  He’s the mortgage holder on the property.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Oh, he is?

D’Army Bailey:
But I don’t think – I mean, that notwithstanding, I think it’s just terrible, you know, they lot that property deteriorate down there.  I think something badly needs to be done, because it – and the neighborhood is gonna have to work aggressively to save itself.  I don’t – I mean, it’s up against fear of people, that forces them to take flight.  It’s up against crime, which is everywhere.  I mean, it doesn’t matter whether you're here or in Germantown, for that matter.  But it can’t allow major areas

[00:43:00]

to deteriorate, otherwise it’s gonna have a ripple effect, and it’s just gonna destroy everything.  So I – I’m – I hope that they proceed with vigor to pursue some legal ____ that situation down there.  
[Cut 00:43:20:04]
Rae Ann Kremer:
Okay.  Well – 

[Audio Break]
Virginia Dunaway:
___ __ in closing, I wanna ____ very much what you think about them closing ___ ____.  

D’Army Bailey:
Well, I have mixed feelings on that question, because my initial reaction was, I don’t mind the folks on West Drive.  But I perceive that, in terms of convenience and ____, I mean, I just – if I lived on West Drive, I wouldn’t want it – I mean, it’s a nice, quiet street.  I wouldn’t want it to be used as a thoroughfare.  Well, 
[00:44:00]

others perceive it, and I think to some extent rightly so, as being partly racial, or primarily racial, that there’s black ___ ___ ____ there in the neighborhood.  So I guess I have mixed feelings.  I guess what tilts the balance for me is that they’re gonna have other streets closed in Memphis, and I’m told, if I’m not mistaken, that there’s no other street that’s been closed in the city like that.  And so, from that standpoint, I guess I have to sympathize with the people who are fighting the closure.  If the city has a policy whereby, in certain situations it would, in fact, close streets for those kinds of considerations, then I’d say, “Fine, I think they have a legitimate cause to want it closed.”  But if that’s the only one, as I was told by somebody, that’s been done in that kind of situation, then I wonder whether it is right to 

[00:45:00]

change public policy.

Rae Ann Kremer:
I wonder if that’s really true, then?

D’Army Bailey:
I don't know.  

Rae Ann Kremer:
I sort of doubt that.

D’Army Bailey:
I was just told that by somebody, and I didn’t really check that.  But on the basic premise of our street closing, yes, I think that we ought to protect quiet, residential streets, to some extent, not – in Berkley, you can’t drive from – you can’t drive three blocks without having to go 10.  [Laughs]  

Rae Ann Kremer:
[Laughs]  Oh, these automobiles.

D’Army Bailey:
[Laughs]  That’s going a little bit far.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Yeah.  Well, it worries us, as we view things, to come in on the racial polarization that you comment on.  I’d like to think that it’s better, but I wonder.  Certainly some things are better.  Legally, life is better.  But are we still so polarized?

[00:46:00]

Will we always be?

D’Army Bailey:
Well, if I were judging by my perceptions today, I would say that’s – the answer to both questions would be: Yes.  We certainly are very polarized today, and I don’t see many signs of any change, any significant movement to change that.  

Rae Ann Kremer:
Do you think that black race is trying to change more than the white?

D’Army Bailey:
Well, not as much as we ought to be.  I think that we have become somewhat docile and too accepting of things that are. We’ve fallen back into an acceptance that predated

[00:47:00]

the ‘60s, to a certain extent.  And we have been lulled, to some extent, by the ephemeral progress that we’ve made in small ways, the little things; a little bit better income, a little bit better job, a little bit better house.  And so we have become, perhaps, less agitated to question the racial context of our society, wherein there’s a two-layer society of blacks and whites.  And it is still every bit as much a dual citizenship for blacks and whites as it has ever been.  Whites still control all of the institutions, and the absence of dialog is pretty much extensive
[00:48:00]

except that blacks, through job integration, do have more contact, in some respects, in some lower level and mid-level jobs with whites, you know, during work hours ___ ___ ___ ____.  

Rae Ann Kremer:
Well, of course, your white, on the opposite, would say that they’ve – they have more competition, in a way.  It’s harder for them to do certain things, like law school, doctorate of medicine, and so forth, these days.  I don’t know if that’s really true, or not, but that’s a feeling anyway.

D’Army Bailey:
Have more competition in what sense?

Rae Ann Kremer:
Trying to get into – that they have less opportunity to be accepted at, say, a law school or a med school, and so forth.  

D’Army Bailey:
Why are they saying that they – I mean, for what reason are they having less opportunity?
[Cut 00:48:56:28]
Rae Ann Kremer:
Because of the quota, or the – 

[00:49:00]

women being ___ ____ ___ the quota.

D’Army Bailey:
I see.  Well, I suppose.  I mean, I’ve never thought that that was much to argue about.  I mean, naturally, if you've got 100 pieces of pie, and you reallocate it so that people who had none of that pie get 30 pieces, then 30 people who used to get part of the 100 are not gonna get it.  So it’s just foolish to argue about that.  Sure, that’s true.  The question is: Is that right?  Does the situation – do the times and the situation demand that?  And I my mind, they do.  The history, the disadvantage, the need for change, and the need for aggressive and affirmative consistence and support is undeniable, given the condition of blacks economically, and educationally, and throughout this society.  It makes that clear.  Now, whites may be so selfish as to say, “Well, we’re not gonna give up those 30 pieces of pie,” which is what they’re saying.

[00:50:00]

But I don’t think that’s an issue.  They ____ the question of, they don’t have it in their heart to do it.  And so if they don’t have it in their heart to do it, the only recourse left to blacks is to wait until we are in a position of advantage, through ongoing change, and go where we can have enough leverage to force it.  

Rae Ann Kremer:
Well, are you gonna take a role politically, with your law partner?  Are you gonna be supporting him?

D’Army Bailey:
Well, I’m gonna work very supportively with Judge Hicks, because I think that he would make a very conscientious and a very hard working mayor that would be good for the city.  Since I write for the paper, and try to give something of the appearance of being – I don’t wanna say objective, but at least being able to see all sides of an issue, I don't know how openly and aggressively

[00:51:00]

I’ll be on the campaign trail, but I have been working to help him, you know, and I’m going to continue to do everything I can to support him.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Good.  All right, ___ ____.

[Audio Break]
Virginia Dunaway: 
The other day, the public schools ___ __ _____ [Baby crying in the foreground obscures comments] – 

D’Army Bailey:
All right, maybe I’ll give it a try.  [Laughs]  Come on, baby boy.  Yeah, ____ now, huh?  
Virginia Dunaway:
Yeah, I think he just wanted his daddy.  

D’Army Bailey:
[Laughs]  Good.

Virginia Dunaway:
What do you think the public schools are gonna be – you know, you were saying a little while ago you were pretty apprehensive about that neighborhood as a whole.  You – what do you think is gonna happen to the public schools in this area, particularly?

D’Army Bailey:
I think we’ve gotta keep pressure on the public treasury to get enough support for the schools. And then I think we’ve gotta zero in on getting the best kind of training programs

[00:52:00]

and qualify capable and conscientious teachers.  And then I think we ought to forget about whether the whites come to the schools or not.  I mean, I don’t think that we ought to be trying to coax whites, who are in engaged in what was nothing more than a continuation of massive resistance to racial segregation, we ought to be trying to be trying to coax them back.  If they wanna come back, fine.  If they wanna go their way, let them go.  I mean, I don’t – we’ve countenanced this kind of resistance too long.  I don’t think we outta play footsie with it.  That’s my feeling.  [Laughs]  


I guess – I mean, when I was in law school I had the good fortune to study under Professor Alexander Bickel, who was a leading constitutional scholar.  He’s now deceased.  He died only reasonably young age.  He was in his, probably 40s, late 40s.  But we used to study all of the school desegregation cases 

[00:53:00]

from around the country, and Bickel had been quite a scholar and a leader __ _____ the country.  We dissected and argued about all of these school cases.  And Bickel was one that believed that the courts ought to take cognizance of local conditions.  But no one believed that there ought to be any sympathy for massive resistance to school integration.  And there were all forms of it.  They set up private school systems.  There was a lot of litigation about it.   They closed public school systems. There was litigation about that.  And I think that, when ____ left the public schools there – in fact, that’s what my article is about on Monday, is all those ____, bluntly stated – but when they fled the systems here, I think it was just the same thing.  They’re saying, “We’d rather get out.”  Of course, now they’re claiming it’s equality and public confidence in schools.

[00:54:00]

But to me, that’s just a camouflage.
[Cut 00:54:05:13]
Rae Ann Kremer:
Do you feel that anything’s been lost, when the neighborhood school was lost?

D’Army Bailey:
Well, I don’t think we lost the neighborhood school.  I don't know how many schools there are, where the neighborhood character of the school has really been lost.  I haven’t been in a whole lot of schools, but I have been over to the Hamilton High School, and I haven’t heard any – I can’t say I spent a lot of time.  I just wanted to talk to a couple of classes.  But I guess what I’m trying to say is, I haven’t picked up any readings that there – that the people don’t feel that they can identify with their schools.  Now I know that they say, “Well, if you send a white kid from his neighborhood over to a black area, then he doesn’t have a neighborhood school.”  And I haven’t had much contact with those students very much, so I don’t have much read on what they
[00:55:00]

what they feel to be the loss of the neighborhood school.  I spoke at East High not very long ago, and I was astonished that such an extensive facility is just ____.  They’ve only got 500 students in ___ ____ school.  And I mean, they can’t even fill up a corner of the assembly hall.  And that’s because – and you've still got whites living out there, for the most part.  Except, I guess, some left further east.  But it’s just amazing that here’s a school, well built, nice facility, that’s just empty there.  And I don't know what to do about that, but if that’s what whites – I mean, that’s – you know, that’s symptomatic, I guess, of what they call white flight.  But I just don’t think you can let them have their way and try to regroup and say,

[00:56:00]

“Well, we’ll give it back to you the way it was.  You can have your own schools, your own neighborhoods, and have all your white kids in the same neighborhood and go to the same school.”  ___ ___ ____ ____.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Well, with neighborhoods becoming more and more integrated, though, that would follow the guidelines of the federal law.

D’Army Bailey:
If they were becoming more and more integrated.  But how many neighborhoods ____ that county area?

Virginia Dunaway:
I don't know, a good many.

D’Army Bailey:
I mean, if you add residential integration, you wouldn’t need bussing.  That’s very serious.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Yeah, that’s – and there are neighborhoods like that, that it – for instance, Peabody is one with ___ ____, and several others that we’re hoping that where the neighborhood is integrated, that they could return to the neighborhood school.  We think it would be good for the neighborhood, and __ _____.

D’Army Bailey:
Well, certainly if you had integrated neighborhoods, it’d be ideal, but my attitude has largely been not even to get into a debate about it, because I think it’s 

[00:57:00]

in the hands of the federal court, and I think that’s where it ought to stay, if the judge is doing a conscientious job.  I don't know what Judge McCray is doing in his implementation, but since so many people don’t like his plan, I guess he must be doing a good job.  [Laughs]  

Rae Ann Kremer:
Well, we really thank you a lot, and appreciate all you've told us.  Anything else?

Virginia Dunaway:
No, just __ ___ ____.

D’Army Bailey:
Well, I enjoyed the opportunity to chat with you.  

[Audio Break]
Rae Ann Kremer:
A bit about your wife, and her name, and what she does.

D’Army Bailey:
All right.  I met her when I was here practicing law, and we met in ’75, in late ’75.  A girlfriend of hers was friendly with one of the ladies who worked in our office, and I met her at our office, actually.  And we dated a while.  She’s from Chattanooga.  Her name is – was – her maiden name was Adrianne Leslie. 
[00:58:00]

She has three sisters.  She has three sisters, one who’s in college in Murphysborough, and one who’s at home with her mother and father in Chattanooga, and one who’s living in Nashville and is married to a Lieutenant Colonel in the army, who’s just now getting ready to go over to Germany for a year.  He’ll be separated from her.  But her father works for TVA, and her mother and her sister run a nursery in Chattanooga, and they have 40 kids they take care of.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Was she working here when you met her?

D’Army Bailey:
No, she was – well, she was here for work.  She was working as a sales representative for Flurry Roberts Cosmetics, and traveling to some southeastern states in that capacity.  And she was here on – they had different – this place, Flurry Roberts is a black woman’s cosmetic mainly, market.  

[00:59:00]

And they had some different displays and things at ___ Smith’s and some of the other stores.  So she was working on that at the time I met her.  Right now, she studies ___ ____ - she got her degree at Stephens College in Missouri, studying TV, camera stuff and all that.  But she hasn’t been able to find anything here that she wants to – well, hadn’t really been able to find much here.  

Rae Ann Kremer:
So she’s not – she’s working some, just part time now?

D’Army Bailey:
Well, no, she’s job hunting now.

Rae Ann Kremer:
She’s job hunting now, okay.  [Laughs]
D’Army Bailey:
I think there’s a black list out.  [Laughs]
Rae Ann Kremer:
Okay.

Virginia Dunaway:
I wanted to ask you one more question.  I was wondering why – you were talking about how Memphis is pretty polarized, and it pretty much is – why did you move from such a, you know, liberal environments, you know, Boston, New York, San Francisco, back to Memphis?

[01:00:00][Cut 01:00:01:28]
D’Army Bailey:
Well, I liked Memphis, I always did.  I like the climate.  I like the warmth and the change of seasons.  You didn’t get that in California.  I liked the fact that it was centrally located.  So whenever – when I was on the west coast, I’d have to fly a long time to get to Memphis, or to Chicago, or to New York, or to wherever.  I like the fact that there were more blacks here, proportionately, than there were on the west coast.  So, from the political perspective, or just from a community living perspective, where you've got so many blacks, as we do here in Memphis.  It makes there – at least more potential for – I’m assuming, as I said earlier, that for the black, his lines are confined to what he can – what support he can get in the black community.   I enjoyed the areas that I lived in.  I – 

[01:01:00]

New York is just a fascinating place.  I had some offers, some nice job offers in New York.  Massachusetts is very nice.  I enjoyed Worchester and Boston.  The snow, and the – and it’s just gorgeous in the fall, when the foliage changes color and everything, going up to Vermont, New Hampshire.  It’s really nice.  But when I moved out to California from New York, I really had in mind only staying a couple of years, and then I had in mind, possibly, coming back to Memphis.  And I ended up staying five years.  I got involved in the politics out there, and I was on the city council in Berkley.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Oh, were you?

D’Army Bailey:
From 1971 to 1973.  I was elected in ’71 to a four year term, and they had a special election to oust me in ’73, so I was recalled.  
[01:02:00]
Rae Ann Kremer:
On what grounds?

D’Army Bailey:
Well, they had several. [Laughs]
Virginia Dunaway:
Anything we can put on tape? [Laughs]
D’Army Bailey:
Well they did, I tell you.  [Laughs]
Rae Ann Kremer:
What did they charge you with?

D’Army Bailey:
Well, they said that I staged wild and obscene outbursts at the council meetings, that I introduced race into the politics of the city, that I refused to compromise with other council members, that I was a disruptive force in the politics of the government.  That’s all.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Were these true?  [Laughs]
D’Army Bailey:
[Laughs]  Yes.  But I’d say, “What was wrong with that?”  [Laughs]
Rae Ann Kremer:
Well, tell me, do you have any political ambitions here?

D’Army Bailey:
Not really.  I guess – yes, I mean, I’d like to run for office.  I’d like to hold office.

[01:03:00]

But I don’t really know what office, and I don’t – it’s not as much joy as you'd think, sometimes, because you – there’s a responsibility that goes with holding office to do something, and that means a commitment, and that involves time.  It involves – there’s not a lot of money in it, and you – unless you're dishonest and you wanna rip people off.  So I – so I’m not chafing at the bit to run for anything, because there’s nothing that just jumps out at me that – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
Right.

D’Army Bailey:
Compels me to wanna be – you know, to be in ____, so.  

[End of darmy.bailey.tape1]

[Begin darmy.bailey.tape2]

[00:00:00]
Rae Ann Kremer:
- David.  We were asking about his interview by Mike Wallace.  

D’Army Bailey:
Well, I’ll tell you what happened.  It was first – you see, 60 Minutes decided they were gonna do a segment.  See, when we were elected, there were three of us elected as part of a team.  We ran, four of us, for four seats, and we had the support of the campus and the radicals and the leftists and the liberals, and everybody.  And so, when the three of us won three of the four seats, the national press sort of broadcast it as a radical takeover __ _____.  


And so that sent out alarms and what have you, although it really wasn’t a radical takeover, because we didn’t have all of the votes that we needed on the council.  We had – it was a nine member council.  [Baby crying in the background]
[00:01:00]

Let me see what I can do with him, just in here.

[Audio Break]
D’Army Bailey:
So – so it was a big news story to those people who wanted to make the rest of the public think that radicals had taken over the city government.  And so 60 Minutes decided they’d do a 20-minute segment on the radicals who took over the government.  Well, they do an elaborate thing when they do a segment.  They had camera people that were covering all of our council meetings for weeks out of Los Angeles.  And then Mike Wallace comes in, after they’ve done all the filming and all of the research.  And then they’ve done a script for him, and he does the interviewing of the main characters from the script.  And the initial interview, actually, was not done by him.

[00:02:00]

It was done by Candice Bergen, the actress.  So – and she came to Berkley to do the interview, because she was interested in getting into broadcast media.  And I guess NBC – I mean, CBS was opening up an arena for her.  So she did the interview, and then some weeks later we got a call that it had to be rescheduled, and Mike Wallace came out and did it. 
[Cut 01:06:15:02] 

Rae Ann Kremer:
Oh.

D’Army Bailey:
And so he was very nice, and friendly, and everything.  I met him up on the UC Berkley campus, and we had coffee, and then we drove up to my house, because we were to do the interview on the patio in front of my house, or our cottage, as it were.  And after we got on camera, his cordiality suddenly turned to a coldness, 

[00:03:00]
a cold shock, penetrating, impersonal.  And he became kind of very – I mean, he was really on the attack, and so then he turned around and asked me where my money was coming from.  Here I am, I’m living in the fancy house up in Berkley, which really only ___ ____.  It was a small little cottage.  And I’m driving a fancy sports car, which was just a used MG.  And I’ve got a staff of people, and I’m making $300.00 a month at the council.  Well, that much was true.  So where’s my money coming from, he says.  And so I said, “That’s none of your business.”  And so he said, “Well, how can you say that?  You're a public official.”  I said, “Well, I comply with the law.  The law didn’t require me” – 

[00:04:00]

you see, what happened was that I spent $25,000.00 on my campaign, but I only showed contributions of about $2,000.00.  The rest of it was anonymous, because I had an anonymous benefactor.  [Laughs]  Well, anonymous benefactors, to be more accurate.  And so he asked me that, and I told him it wasn’t his business.  Well, he – that was – he actually used ____ question ___ my answer ____.  But before the story came out on his show, he called me from New York, at my house, and he said, “D’Army, I’m working on my story segment, and I wanted to give you a chance to tell me where your money is coming from on my show.”  And I said, “Well, I already answered that.  I won’t tell you,” I said.  He said, “Well, you may as well tell me, because it’s gonna be found out anyway.”  And I said, “What do you mean?”  

[00:05:00]

He says, “Well, there’s a foundation that’s put up some money, some journalists, to investigate and find out where you got the money from.”  And so I said, “Well, I ___ got that, but let me think about it and let me call you back.”  So I contacted a friend of mine who runs a foundation in New York, and I asked him if he knew anything about a foundation that might have given money to find out ___ ___ ____.  He said, “I don't know, I’ll check.”  So he called me back and he said __ ____ __ ____ [Baby making noise in the background obscures comments] that in fact there was a foundation which had given a grant to an operation to find that out.  [Laughs]  It was the Stirrin family fund I was left, and ___ ____.  And they had made ___ __ _____ about the fund for investigative journalism.

[00:06:00]

[Laughs] So the fund had apparently conducted some investigation.  My friend from New York, at the foundation, called back and confirmed that.  And the fact the director of the foundation made ___ ___ confirmed by letter, and explained that they just had an obligation with me, as a public figure, to try to find that kind of thing out.  So that was what that was about.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Well, did they find out?  [Laughs]
D’Army Bailey:
No. [Laughs]
Rae Ann Kremer:
Well, so the program came on, and it – did it treat you sympathetically at all?

D’Army Bailey:
Well – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
When was the program?

D’Army Bailey:
Let’s see, it’s been – it would’ve aired in – see, we were elected in ’71, 

[00:07:00]
so the program would’ve aired in probably early ’72.  

Rae Ann Kremer:
And did that have a bearing in you being voted out, you think, from office?

D’Army Bailey:
What?  Did what have a bearing?

Rae Ann Kremer:
This program.

D’Army Bailey:
No, I don’t think so.  No.  I mean, I – we were – there was a lot of media which zeroed in on us, and some was reported and some was not.  And we were more or less controversial, some of us.  I was probably the most controversial, because I was very aggressive as a councilman.  I did not – I was not there to simply perpetuate myself in office.  I really was not looking to any great political future, or even finishing out a term.  I knew that they were – I mean, when we were elected, they started the recall draft, but they started it against all three of us.  

[00:08:00]

But then, by – so what they did was, they said – the three of us were elected, two blacks and one white female. Well, they decided that the white female was not pertinent enough, or bad enough, to try to recall her.  And furthermore, I’m sure they didn’t wanna alienate whites in the university area by trying to kick her out.  She is now the deputy director of Action out in ___ ____.  And so, having dropped her out, they had some blacks working with them on the recall.  And so the blacks said, “Well, we’re not gonna go on with this.  If you're gonna drop the white female out, then we’re not gonna let you recall two black men.”  And so then they said, “Well, we’ll drop the other black man out,” so they dropped him out of the picture, too.  And I’m sure, also, there was some consideration that, by doing that, they could focus on one person and be more effective with their money and their time.  This was an alliance of conservative business people,
[00:09:00]

political groups that had lost in some of the elections, and were trying to regroup and regain control of the city.  Because even though we hadn’t gotten control, we had taken control from them, and it just kind of flowed.

[Cut 01:12:59:16]
Rae Ann Kremer:
So you were the only one then they zeroed on at that point?

D’Army Bailey:
Yes.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Okay.  All right.  And you're writing a book, you say?

D’Army Bailey:
Uh huh.

Rae Ann Kremer:
About this experience?

D’Army Bailey:
These experiences.  I started it in ’59, and then ___ up to the present time, what I did ___ ____ publish ___ ____ ____ ___.

Virginia Dunaway:
How soon do you expect to be finished?

D’Army Bailey:
Well, I’ll be through with this version, with my part of it, in a matter of a couple of weeks, a month at most.  But my secretary is probably gonna have to retype the whole thing.  

[00:10:00]

But I’ve been editing what they’ve done.  But there’s – I’m sure there’s a lot more editing that’ll have to be done.  I’ll give it my best shot, and then that part I’ll be through with fairly shortly.  

Virginia Dunaway:
Do you have a title?

D’Army Bailey:
Not yet.  I don’t even know how to get one.

Rae Ann Kremer:
All right.

[Audio Break]
D’Army Bailey:
One of the things that I did when I was on the city council – in fact, this is the – this is the ___ ___ ____ ____.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Yeah.

D’Army Bailey:
Her name is Lonnie Hancock.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Lonnie Hancock?

D’Army Bailey:
Uh huh.  But when I was elected to the city council out there [Baby making noise in the background] – Justin!  Now don’t start acting like a bean-head.  What you want?  

R3:
Maybe just some attention.  

Rae Ann Kremer:
Okay. 

[00:11:00] 

D’Army Bailey:
Maybe if I hold him for a minute.  

Rae Ann Kremer:
Yeah.

[Audio Break]
D’Army Bailey:
So when I was a councilman, Berkley has this very nice city council chamber, a rather old building, and behind – we had a – this big, nice, carved oak bench.  You know, I almost thought we were in congress, you know.  [Laughs]  And behind the council on the wall, there was one picture of George Washington, and one of Abraham Lincoln.  So I said – I made a motion one night that we ought to add a picture of Fredrick Douglass.  And so the motion was almost passed, until the conservative black on the council said, “No, why don’t we have a study of regional – and take this pictures down and putting something else up more relevant?”  So the end result of that was that the city art commission

[00:12:00]

this was done by Romer ____.  And he’s a very distinguished black artist who’s based in New York.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Yeah.

D’Army Bailey:
Well, he had just had an exhibit at the University of California, at Berkley.  And so the city art commission decided to study how it would redesign the council chamber, and it came up with the thought that it would have Romer ____ come out and do a mural to cover the back council wall.  So the council appropriated some money, and the art commission raised some money, and altogether it came to, I think, about $18,000.00.  So ____ came out from New York and spent a little time in the city, and I had met him and got to know him just a little bit, not very well.  And he went back and he worked on this collage, and he produced a really nice collage that 

[00:13:00]

is now the back wall of the council chamber out there. So when I was – after I was gone out of office, I talked with him and I asked him if he would do something for me.  And I sent him some pictures, and he sent that back, and he didn’t charge me anything.  And he sent me a $25.00 contribution.  But his wasn’t that large.  That’s actually a blow up.  His was about a quarter the size of that, but he sent that, the original is at my office, and he recommended that I blow it up to about six feet.  He was right __ ___ ____.  He’s just – much of his stuff is large like that.  In fact, they have some of his work down at the ____ art gallery __ ____.
Rae Ann Kremer:
Right.  What we are talking about is a collage of D’Army Bailey, and it’s a – in one – in the left hand corner it says, “Credentials – A lifetime of struggle.”  And then it lists jobs with the top priority to women and minorities, housing and childcare, help for senior citizens, 

[00:14:00]

Recreation with extension of – 

Virginia Dunaway:
Facilities.

Rae Ann Kremer:
Facilities.  I couldn’t see it.  

[Audio Break]
D’Army Bailey:
____, liberal juvenile ____ more ___ ____.

Rae Ann Kremer:
____ control ____.

D’Army Bailey:
We ran over the – touched on ___ ___ control __ ____ and ___ ____, which was really one of the most controversial issues.  And whites ___ ___ claim ___ ___ ___ because they kind of overlooked our candidacy.  [Laughs]  

Rae Ann Kremer:
And then in the background it has an excerpt from his biography.

D’Army Bailey:
And then right there – 

Rae Ann Kremer:
A slogan, “Keep moving forward.”  

D’Army Bailey:
There’s – that’s ____ ___ ____, which is the ___ ____. That’s where they would have all the riots and everything.  In fact, you can’t really see it too closely, but that’s a Bank of America branch.

[00:15:00]

It’s all bricked in.  It has no windows.  

[Cut 01:18:46:19]
Virginia Dunaway:
I just saw the other day in Time Magazine, they have – they’re taking – they’re putting back the windows.

D’Army Bailey:
Is that right?  [Laughs] 

Virginia Dunaway:
Yeah.  They said, you know, the racial – the whole thing is over, and we’re gonna put back our windows.  

D’Army Bailey:
[Laughs]  Is that right?

Virginia Dunaway:
Yeah.
D’Army Bailey:
Because, see, the campus is right here at the end of the avenue.  That’s the campus right there for UC Berkley.  This __ ___ ___ ___ __ _____ [Baby’s noise-making obscures comments].  These are pictures of ___ ____, apparently ___ ___ ____, because a lot of the ____ that I had ___ ____ were some stuff that we had used in our campaign.  This is a picture of this one.  This was from some of our __ ____.  And so __ ___ picture ___ ____ two boys ___ ____ ___ _____ while we were on a parade route for our campaign, fighting the recall, I think, at that time.  But the rest of it all is material that he added in.

Rae Ann Kremer:
What about – what is ___ ___ older white man?

[00:16:00]
R3:
___ __ _____, yeah.

D’Army Bailey:
Yeah, that’s just a – the only recognizable person, outside of these two boys, and Lonnie Hancock and myself, the rest of them are all pictures of ____ and all the writing and everything he did.  

Rae Ann Kremer:
And in the lower right hand corner it says, “To do things in life should be in reach of everyone.”  Very good looking, nicely framed, on Mr. Bailey’s wall.  

[End of Audio]
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